British Yachts and Yachtsmen — Organization 1815-1851

Chapter IV
ORGANIZATION OF THE SPORT 1815- 1851

WITH the dawn of a period of peace fruitful efforts were made to organize yachting as a
sport. The Water Club at Cork existed only for the purpose of maintaining those pleasant
customs set forth in its quaint original rules, and the convivial meetings and elaborate
manoeuvres, with a prodigal expenditure of gunpowder, have little bearing upon the
subsequent history of yachting. The citizen yachtsmen of the Thames rightly bear the
distinction of setting up the first yachting organization, and while the members of the
Cork Water Club disported themselves in their heavy cutters, the merchants and
professional men of London industriously created a fleet of small boats, which sub-
sequently paved the way for the organization known as the Cumberland Fleet.

As we have seen, sailing matches on the Thames had become a recognised sport
as early as the year 1780, and much of their success may be traced to Thomas Taylor,
owner of the clinker-built sailing boat King's Fisher, who in 1779 became Commodore of
the Cumberland Fleet, an office which he only relinquished in 1816. The yachting of this
period was above bridge, and so rapidly did the sport progress that in 1781 the match for
the Duke of Cumberland's Cup was thrown open to all pleasure-sailing boats within the
British dominions. This cup was won by Commodore Taylot's Cumberland, built in 1780.
From this time onward Thames pleasure-sailing became an important pastime, and con-
siderable feeling characterized the matches. Indeed, we learn from the Morning Chronicle
of 1786 that there was an attempt at foul play against the winning vessel ‘by other boats
getting in her way, but she got clear by a liberal use of the handspike.’

Thus the earliest organization of sailing matches brought about keen rivalry, and it
is not surprising to find that the Cumberland Fleet increased in numbers and importance.
An incident is recorded in the Times of July 23, 1795, in which two of the boats - the
Mercury and the 1ixen - fouled in a race. The captain of the [7xen thereupon cut away the
rigging of the rival boat with a cutlass ‘and fairly dismantled her.” This incident, coupled
with that of 1786, throws some light upon the ethics of sport at that period, though, as
far as can be judged, it was generally carried on with hearty goodwill.

Foremost among those connected with the earliest attempt to organize the sport
appear the names of the Duke of Cumberland, brother of George II1.; Mr. Smith, first
Commodore of the Cumberland Fleet; Mr. Thomas Taylor, Commodore from 1779 to
1816; Mr. Coffin, owner of the Caroline; Mr. Grubb, owner of the Eagle; Mr. Jonathan
Tyars; Mr. James Gunston, owner of the S% George; 'Mr. Astley, owner of the Ec/ipse; Mr.
Byrne, owner of the Cumberland, Mr. E. Smith, owner of the A#anta; Mr. Farebrother,
owner of the Belissima; Mr. Edward Nettlefold, who appears to have succeeded Mr.
Thomas Taylor as Commodore; Mr. L. Pickering, owner of the Busy; Mr. T. Edgebey,
owner of the Mermnaid, and Mr. W. Richards, owner of the Kz#zy. Mr. John Tyars was
proprietor of the Vauxhall Gardens, and from 1786 to 1810 offered a silver cup and
cover annually. The Duke of Cumberland ceased the presentation of cups in 1782, but
trophies came from other sources, and only occasionally did the society subscribe for its
own cups.

It is impossible to decide the exact influence which these early sailing matches had
upon the subsequent development of yachting or the formation of the Yacht Club at
Cowes. The Yacht Club was formed in 1815, but for many years prior to that date yachts
and yachtsmen were known upon the south as well as upon the west coasts Among these
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early yachtsmen outside the Thames were Mr. Joseph Weld, of Lulworth Castle; Mr.
Sturt, of Branksea Castle; Lord Bolton; Mr. Gerrard; Mr. Nathaniel Ogle; Lord Craven;
Lord Uxbridge, who was owner of the Liberty; and Mr. Assheton Smith.

A paragraph which appears in the Salisbury and Winchester Chronicle places a period
upon sailing matches in the Solent and Southampton Water equal to the early matches
which took place on the Thames. The earliest race in connection with the Isle of Wight
probably took place about 1788, and the example was immediately followed by the
people of Southampton. The journal mentioned above, dated August 11, 1788, contains
the following paragraph:

‘The satisfaction expressed at the sailing match in the Island has occasioned a
similar plan for one here to be sailed on Wednesday, the 27th inst., and
considerable bets are already laid on the nautical race. The odds at present are in
favour of vessels belonging to Itchen Ferry; three to two are laid that the first prize
goes to that side of the water.”
This race was called the Southampton Subscription Sailing Match, and was limited to
carvel-built vessels not exceeding 15 tons.

There is no more conspicuous figure in these early days than Mr. Weld, and in
1800 we find him taking part in a sailing contest against Mr. Sturt. It was in this contest
that Mr. Sturt met with an amazing and amusing experience, which is described at some
length in the Sporting Magazine.' ‘In setting off,’ says the chronicler, ‘the boat of Mr. Sturt's
cutter being astern, he supposed it impeded her sailing, and on that occasion directed a
boy to get into the boat and convey her to shore. The child, the waves running high,
refused; not only this boy, but all the crew declined this task, on which Mr. Sturt, with a
deal of heroism, jumped into the boat, which he had no sooner done than she drifted
away, and in this perilous situation was committed to the ocean. The boat had no sooner
quitted the cutter than she upset, and he was frequently washed off, and as frequently
swam to the boat. He had even in this hour resolution and presence of mind to undress
himself, preparing for his fate as it drew near dark, when, fortunately for him, some
transports which lay off and had on board the 85th Regiment by contrary winds were put
back, and the last vessel, which was three miles distant, saw a fellow-creature in distress,
and, though three miles to windward, yet they had the courage to make up to him, which
was an event of Divine Providence, as they by their glasses only could discern him, nor
did they see him until they were within a few yards.’

The time of rescue is given as near seven o'clock. ‘A few moments longer would
have fatally closed the scene,” concludes the account, and no mention is made as to the
upshot of the race.

These occasional matches were not the only signs of a growing interest in the
racing of sailing vessels, and some sort of organization soon became apparent. In 1812
the first Isle of Wight regatta and sailing match was held, and the Trinity House pilots
arranged a review of their pilot vessels. This regatta was witnessed by a number of private
yachtsmen from their own vessels. Among these were Lord Grantham, Mr. F. N.
Fazackerley, and Colonel Sheddon, who, three years later, assisted in founding the Yacht
Club at Cowes. It is not surprising, therefore, to find that in 1815 a movement in favour
of forming a club had so far advanced that on June 1 these gentlemen yacht-owners met
at the Thatched House Tavern in St. James's Street, London, under the chairmanship of
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Lord Grantham, and succeeded in forming a club? for those interested in the sailing of
yachts in salt water.

One account® of the Isle of Wight Regatta says:

"That unrivalled scene of interest and admiration which has afforded, for the last
six years, so much delight and amusement to the amateurs of water pursuits and the
nobility, gentry, and public generally - viz., the Isle of Wight Regatta and Sailing Match -
is, we learn, fixed for Thursday, the 23rd, and Friday, the 24th, days of July ensuing, when
report says royalty will honour the spectacle with its presence. To the distinction given
the yacht club by his Royal Highness the Prince Regent's special patronage, the club has
also to boast of the accession of their Royal Highnesses the Dukes of Clarence and
Gloucester as members. The institution of a society of yachtsmen, mostly composed of
noblemen and gentlemen of large fortunes (novel as it may appear), is likely in its effect
to be of national importance, inasmuch as its object and pursuit cherish the characteristic
taste of Englishmen, and have a tendency to improve sea skill and naval architecture.
Several yachts have been built and launched this season on principles of science entirely
new, the models of which are allowed to be the acme of perfection. The yachts now at
Cowes in daily sailing practice are Lord Grantham's ' Mermaid (40 tons), Mr. Weld's
Charlotte (66 tons), Sir Arthur Paget's Union (34 tons), the Hon. Captain Paget's Anglesey
(30 tons), Mr. W. Baring's Iris (70 tons), Mr. Halifax's Arie/ (71 tons), Sir George
Thomas's Eliza (34 tons), Mr. Wardell's Elizabeth (19 tons), Mr. Challen's Rattler (20 tons),
Mr. North's Lord Nelson (75 tons), Mr. Algenet's Sy/ph (20 tons), Captain Hammond's
Maria Ann (36 tons), the Hon. W. Hare's Adelaide (18 tons), Mr. Gaven's Wellington (26
tons), Mr. Gordon's Syren (31 tons), Mr. Lindegreen's Dove (35 tons), Mr. Peach's Harrier
(36 tons), and Captain Symond's Henrietta (13 tons). The Pilot Review, which of itself is
one of the prettiest exhibitions imaginable, performed by forty-five vessels, will proceed
by procession round the buoys of the Brambles and Middle Bank, in the usual manner,
returning into harbour; after which the select prime sailing vessels will contest a race on
the same course, to be followed by another on the succeeding day, concluding with a
boat-race by eight four-oared galleys.’

Despite its unique position and the fact that in 1817 the Prince Regent became a
member, the Yacht Club was slow in developing and organizing the sport, and the annual
procession or review and racing among local boatmen appear to have been continued. It
is to private individuals that we are indebted for the matches sailed during the years
immediately following the formation of the club. Mr. Joseph Weld, with the 60-ton cutter
Charlotte, and Mr. Assheton Smith, owner of the 65-ton cutter E/izabet) - and who was, by
the way, foremost in developing yachting on the Welsh coast - arranged a match for 500
guineas. The yachts were described as of beautiful model and construction and of celerity
as quick sailers, and each owner confident of his vessel's superiority. The match was
arranged in three heats on successive days. On the first day, however, the E/izabeth lost
her masthead in the race, and her sails falling upon the deck, she was disabled. Mr. Weld's
boat was leading, but after heaving to, the Charltte returned, and towed the disabled boat
back to port.

Another match which created some considerable interest was sailed between boats
belonging to the Marquis of Anglesey, Mr. Baring, and Mr. Weld for a sweepstake of 150

2 The history of the Royal Yacht Squadron is dealt with in a succeeding chapter.
3 Salisbury and Winchester Journal, June 29, 1818.
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guineas. It was won by the boat belonging to the Marquis, who was credited with having
won £800 by the event.

The matches sailed at this time were chiefly those arranged by private owners, Mr.
Weld being one of the leaders of the sport. In 1824 a race took place between the [u/ia, a
yawl of 43 tons, owned by Mr. Weld, and the Giulia, of 42 tons, owned by Mr. C. R. M.
Talbot, round the Isle of Wight. This was one of the earliest of the matches sailed round
the Island.

The Yacht Club did, however, make considerable progress as an institution, and
by 1824 its membership list had increased to 71, with an addition of 132 honorary
members. The Thames Club had likewise enlarged the scope of its energies. In 1823, the
year of the Coronation of George IV., an important match was sailed among the yachts
of the Cumberland Fleet for a cup presented in honour of the Coronation. It is in this
year also that we find the Cumberland Fleet being styled His Majesty's Coronation Sailing
Society, and owing to a dispute in the same year the Thames Yacht Club was formed. It is
significant of the activity of the Thames yachtsmen that in 1828 there was again a dispute,
and the Clarence Yacht Club was formed, and existed for a number of years. These facts
are fully recorded under the general history of the Royal Thames Yacht Club.

Thames yachting had, without doubt, attracted the attention of Southern
yachtsmen for a number of years prior to the foundation of the Yacht Club at Cowes, but
it is not till the year 1824 that a visit of Southern boats to the Thames is recorded.* In that
year a boat from Southampton and another from Cowes sailed round to the Thames. The
racing records of the Thames Club do not record any matches having taken place. In the
tollowing year, however, Mr. J. M. Davey, the owner of the Don Giovanni, 11 tons, one of
the most successful of the Thames boats, issued a challenge® ‘to sail with any vessel near
her tonnage at our annual regatta . . . for from £100 to £250 a side.” The Don Giovanni is
here described as an ‘out-and-outer,” but the challenge was taken up by Captain Lyons,
who built the Queen Mab, and the pair duly appeared in Cowes Roads. Mr. Davey appears
to have been doubtful of the tonnage of the Queen Mab, he having limited his challenge to
a boat of 12 tons or under. Captain Lyons offered to bet £50 that his boat was within the
prescribed tonnage, and further offered to forfeit the stake of £200 in the event of his
winning. The matter was not settled, and the Qwueen Mab was awarded the race. The
Thames boat appears to have cruised westward after this fiasco, and we next hear of her
at Dartmouth, where she was eventually sailed against the Queen Mab, and defeated.

The Royal Yacht Club inaugurated cup-racing at Cowes in the year 1826 at their
annual regatta, which extended over two days.

The first prize was a gold cup, value £100, offered for vessels belonging to the
club of any rig or tonnage. Prizes of £30, £20, £12, and /8 were offered for vessels of all
descriptions not exceeding 40 tons, belonging to any port. The vessels entered for the
club race were: Menai, 163-ton cutter, owned by Mr. Assheton Smith; Harriet, 95-ton
cutter, owned by Lord Belfast; Arrow, 83-ton cutter, owned by Mr. Joseph Weld; Emzerald,
03-ton cutter, owned by Mr. J. L. Symonds; Do/phin, 58-ton cutter, owned by Captain P.
Browne; Elizabeth, 55-ton cutter, owned by Mr. Magniac; E/igabeth, 42-ton cutter, owned
by Lord Darnley.

+ Bell’s Life, August, 1824.
5 Ibid., May 29, 1825.
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The match was won by the Arrow, with Harriet second and Mena: third. To Mr.
Joseph Weld, one of the earliest and most enthusiastic yachtsmen, fell the honour of
winning the first cup offered by the Royal Yacht Club.

The Arrow, like her owner, figures prominently in early British yachting. She was
built by Inman at Lymington in 1821, and even at this date was reckoned a famous boat.

The cup-racing thus inaugurated in 1826 was crowned with success in the
following year, when His Majesty King George IV. offered a challenge cup to be sailed
for annually by yachts of the club on his birthday, August 12. The cup was of the value of
100 guineas, and was of the model of a tankard, bearing the royal arms and with a bust of
the King inside the cover. The winners of King George IV. Cup are given below:

Year. Boat. Rig. Tonnage. Owner.

1827 Miranda Cutter 147 Mzr. Maxse

1828 Lublworth Ditto 127 Mr. Joseph Weld
1829 Louisa Ditto 162 Lord Belfast

Royal patronage led to a tremendous impetus in Cowes yachting, and the competitions
became extremely keen. For the race in 1827 there were six entries, and the sailing
appears to have been of a neck-and-neck character. In 1828 regulations were put into
force. Trimming of ballast and booming out were prohibited. No member was allowed to
enter more than one yacht. It was also decided that an honorary member of the club
should be on board each yacht sailing for a prize. The race of 1828 was a memorable one,
and lay between Menai and Lubworth, the latter winning only by a second.

As a result of this close contest, Lord Belfast challenged Mr. Weld to sail a match
for £1,000 in the waters of the Solent, and Lu/worth was beaten by Louisa by 23 minutes.
The rivalry between the owners was only accentuated by this event, and, further, it spread
to the respective crews. In the King's Cup match of 1829 Mr. Weld protested against the
Louisa on the ground that ‘the La/worth on her last larboard tack on arriving at Cowes was
on the eve of luffing to the goal of decision when the Lo#isa, on the starboard, luffed to
the wind, caught the aftercloth of the Lu/worth's mainsail, the latter vessel heaving the
Louisa round with her. As contrary to custom as it was expected, the Louisa's crew from
the bowsprit cut the earing of the Lu/worth from the boom, as well as her reef pendent;
the latter, consequently, from being disabled, was a few minutes after the other.” The
stewards, however, awarded the race to Loxisa. Disputes followed, and owing to a threat
made by Lord Belfast, Mr. Weld and Mr. Smith refused to sail their yachts against him.
As to the merits of these disputes we are not concerned, though they appear to have
dominated the whole of the sport in the Solent for some seasons, for at the Portsmouth
Regatta Mr. Weld and Mr. Assheton Smith refused to race their vessels against Lord
Belfast's boat, and the feud was continued at Cowes. Later, however, differences were
more or less composed, and Lord Belfast challenged Mr. Weld to sail a match between
the Lonisa and the Alarm for £1,000, a challenge which A/arm's owner promptly accepted.
In this race Lord Belfast had the extreme satisfaction of soundly beating his rival's boat.

It would be a mistake to suppose that interest in yacht-racing was in these days
confined entirely to the Thames and the Solent. At Plymouth in 1825 a regatta was held,
the funds being subscribed by the townspeople, and the course laid out was twice round
the Sound, mark-boats being placed at Penlee Point and off Stadden Heights. As far as
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one can gather, the yacht-owners taking part in this match were Captain Lockyer and
Messrs. W. S. Harris and Mr. Fox. In 1827 the Duke of Clarence, then Lord High
Admiral, visited Plymouth, immediately before the Battle of Navarino, and the occasion
was celebrated by the formation of the Port of Plymouth Royal Clarence Regatta Club.
This club had a prosperous and useful existence, and was supported by a fairly numerous
body of resident yachtsmen, who assisted at the annual regatta in the Sound. On the
Clyde and in the North of Ireland the sport became established, and the Royal Northern
Club was formed in Belfast in 1824, being joined by the Clyde division in 1825. The Irish
and Scotch divisions existed for some years, but they appear to have attracted very little
notice in England, though the Clyde yachts were in every way equal to those found in the
Solent.

In Dublin Bay the Marquis of Anglesey organized sailing matches as early as 1829,
and to these matches may be traced the formation of the original Royal Irish Yacht Club,
which held its first regatta in 1832. There was, indeed, at this period a number of regatta
committees in existence, many of which, doubtless, were formed as a result of the
matches sailed by the revenue cutters, and later supported by members of the Royal
Yacht Club; and though public interest was centred in the doings of the large and
handsome yachts owned by wealthy men, the smaller regattas attracted no little attention.

The first attempt to classify racing yachts was made by the Royal Yacht Club in
1829, in connection with the Cowes Town Cup. The competitors were grouped into six
different classes, ranging from vessels of over 140 tons to those under 40 tons, and the
handicap was made in proportion to the distance of the course, the first class conceding
!/2 mile to the second class, the third class 1%4 miles, the fourth 2% miles, etc. This system
of classification and handicap was revised by the club two years later, and though the six
classes remained, their position was reversed, the first being the smallest, under 45 tons,
in which a difference of 5 tons was allowed, and the sixth the largest, where a difference
of 30 tons was allowed. The classes did not meet each other, prizes being allotted to
them in their classes. It was this classification which brought to an end the supremacy of
the big racing yachts owned by wealthy yachtsmen, and the final blow was received when
King William IV. commanded that His Majesty's Cup should be sailed for under this
classification.

The Royal Irish Club also instituted a time allowance for the Anglesey Cup, the
calculation there being made on the yachts starting from the mark-boat. At various
centres of yachting activity the question was being continually raised, and one plan which
received a trial was to start all classes at once, and to mark the time on their return.

The classification rule, as we have seen, came into force in 1834 for the King's
Cup. The following table shows the winners from 1831 to 1837:

Year. Boat. Rig. Tonnage. Owner.

1831 Alarm Cutter 193 Mr. Joseph Weld
1832 Alarm Ditto 193 Mr. Joseph Weld
1833 Albatross Ditto 74 Mr. Leveson-Gower
1834 Harriet Ditto 60 Mr. G.W. Heneage
1835 Columbine Ditto 90 Mr. G.S. Barry

1836 Breeze Ditto 54 Mz. J. Lyon

1837 Amulet Ditto 45 Mzr. Meiklam
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It was not till 1838 when the first of Queen Victoria's Cups was competed for, that
another experiment was made in handicapping, this time by time allowance. The race was
open to yachts of all classes, and a time allowance of three minutes for every 10 tons of
difference was reckoned at the start of the race. This was by no means a solution of the
difficulty, and the Royal Cup was again presented to various classes - cutters, schooners,
and on one occasion square-rigged vessels. In the year 1841 the Sailing Committee
started all the yachts together, with a time allowance of one second per mile for every ton
of difference between competing vessels. In 1843 yachts were re-classified under two
headings, these being cutters and schooners. The cutters were formed into four divisions
- viz., 30 tons and under 50 tons, 50 tons and under 75 tons, 75 tons and under 105 tons,
105 tons and upwards. The schooners were formed into two divisions - viz., 140 tons and
under; over 140 tons. A new system of time allowance, devised by Mr. George Holland
Ackers, and known as Ackers’ Graduated Scale, was also brought into use at this time.

Mr. Ackers was a member of the Royal Yacht Club, and owned, in 1837, the 217-
ton schooner Do/phin, and later the Brilliant and Rose Diamond.

The introduction of the Ackers' Scale brought about a great improvement in
yacht-racing, and in 1843 a cup was offered at Cowes for competition among yachts
under 35 tons belonging to any royal club in the kingdom. The competing vessels were
drawn largely from the Royal Thames Club, and the prize was won by the Champion,
owned and sailed by Mr. H. Gunston. Mr. H. Gunston was part owner with his brother,
Mr. G. Gunston, in a number of Thames yachts, including Sabrina, 21 tons, and Gazelle,
25 tons. The Champion, with which he won the Solent race, first made her appearance in
Thames matches in 1841, being owned by Messrs. T. and J. Wanhill. She was purchased
by Mr. Gunston in 1842.

The event was repeated in the following year, and on this occasion fourteen of the
Thames boats appeared in the Solent. Taking part in the race were Bluebell, 25 tons (Mr.
T. Hodges), Gnome, 25 tons (Mr. T. Meeson), Gagelle, 25 tons (Mr. T. Rutherford), and
Mystery, 25 tons (Lord Alfred Paget). The contest took place in stormy weather, and from
Bell's Life we gather an excellent description:

‘Intense interest was excited on shore to view the vessels on the clearing away of
the hailstorm, many being fearful of the result, and anticipating some accident to the
yachts, all of which, however, gallantly contended against wind and weather, although at
times they were obliged to haul down their foresails, their decks being literally under
water. Off the Brambles a heavy sea struck the Bluebe// and carried away her bowsprit.
The wash of the sea took the coil of the Grome's main sheet overboard; one of the hands,
jumping aft to save it, was washed overboard, but was hauled in again by the skipper by
the mainsheet, who left the helm for the purpose. Gazgelle now put back, leaving the lead
to the Myszery, tollowed by Gulnare, Champion, Gnome, and Phantom, in which order they
rounded the Leap Buoy. The Gnome here ran for the Roads. After a most spirited race,
the Mystery won at two hours ten minutes by four minutes and a quarter from the Chan-
pion, Gulnare third, five seconds later, and Phantom last, three and a half minutes after
Gulnare. The seamanlike manner in which the yachts were handled reflects the greatest
credit on the distinguished club of the Thames, and many where the encomiums passed
on them by the leading members of the Royal Squadron.’
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The 25-tanners of the Thames aroused a good deal of enthusiasm at this period,
and the Mystery was sold by Lord Alfred Paget to Lord Seaham for £500.

It was in 1844 also that the first iron-built yachts - the Belvidere, Bluebell, and the
Ariel - were raced at Cowes. In the first contest these novelties were defeated by a wood
vessel owned and built by the brothers Wanhill of Poole.

Organized yachting made rapid growth at this period, and quickly attained
generous proportions. Sixteen Royal Clubs were in existence in 1850, as follows: Royal
Yacht Squadron, 1815; Royal Cork, 1828; Royal Thames, 1823; Royal Northern, 1824;
Royal Western of England, 1833; Royal Western of Ireland, 1832; Royal Eastern, 1835;
Royal Southern, 1840; Royal Harwich, 1843; Royal Mersey, 1844; Royal Victoria, 1845;
Royal St. George's, 1846; Royal Irish, 1846; Royal Welsh, 1847; Royal Dee, 1847; Royal
Yorkshire, 1847; Royal London, 1849. The year given is that in which the clubs received
royal patronage.

In 1850 the Royal Yacht Squadron's fleet of yachts consisted of 100 vessels. The
Royal Thames numbered 130. The Royal Western numbered about 8o, though when
united with the Royal Western of Ireland the fleet consisted of 127 vessels.

From the formation of the Royal Thames Club in 1823 to the year 1850
considerably over 100 matches were sailed on the Thames, and for these matches almost
as many cups and trophies, ranging in value from 25 to 200 guineas, were presented.

In local waters the newly created clubs followed the excellent lead of the Royal
Thames in encouraging keen rivalry in small-yacht racing. The Squadron, however,
remained aristocratic, its fortunes being guided by Lord Yarborough, its first
Commodore, till his death, which took place in 1846, on board his yacht Keszrel, at Vigo.
Lord Yarborough's death was a great loss, and there followed a period of dissension and
depression in Solent yachting, due largely to the election of the Marquis of Donegal, who
was unpopular with a section of the members, as Commodore. The Marquis resigned his
Commodoreship in 1848, however, and the Earl of Wilton was thereupon elected.



